1 Pursuant to NRS 239B.030, the undersigned
2 affirms that the following document does not
3 contain the social security number of any person.

4 JOHN L. MARSHALL
5 SBN 6733
6 570 Marsh Avenue
7 Reno, Nevada 89509
8 Telephone: (775) 303-4882
9 Attorney for Petitioners Comstock
10 Residents Association & Joe McCarthy

Electronically Filed
Dec 09 2015 08:40 a.m.
Tracie K. Lindeman
Clerk of Supreme Court

11
12 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

13 COMSTOCK RESIDENTS ASSOCIATION,
14 JOE McCARTHY

15 Appellants,

No. 68433
District Court Case No. 14-CV-
00128

16 v.

17 LYON COUNTY BOARD OF
18 COMMISSIONERS; COMSTOCK
19 MINING INCORPORATED

20 Respondents,
21 _____/

22
23

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Nevada Rule of Appellate Procedure 3A(b)(1) grants the Supreme Court jurisdiction over this appeal. On June 5, 2015, the District Court issued its Order Denying Judicial Review (“Merits Order”). Joint Appendix (“JA”) 28:3937. The Merits Order was entered on June 15, 2015. JA 28:3949. On December 5, 2014, the District Court dismissed two of Appellants’ Comstock Residents Association and Joe McCarthy’s (collectively “CRA”) claims for violation of the Open Meeting Law and Due Process. JA 28:3766. The District Court’s Order Granting in Part and Denying In Part Motion to Dismiss was entered on the same day. JA 28:3777. The District Court’s June 5, 2015 Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part Plaintiffs’ Motion to Augment Record was entered on June 10, 2015. JA 28:3944. The District Court’s Merits Order constitutes a final order as it disposed entirely of the remaining issues raised in this case. Appellants timely filed this appeal on July 24, 2015. JA 28:3955.

II. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

A. A complete record of proceedings is required to facilitate judicial review of government action. Did Respondent Lyon County Board of Commissioners (“Lyon County”) fail to provide a complete record when it allowed individual Lyon County Commissioners to unilaterally exclude otherwise relevant public documents from the official record? Did the District Court err in not

1 admitting as evidence official government documents demonstrating the
2 incompleteness of the official record?

3
4 B. For decades, Lyon County consistently applied and strengthened
5 policies in its Master Plan separating incompatible mining uses from residential
6 uses in Silver City, Nevada. Were Lyon County’s boilerplate findings –
7 overturning its own Planning Commission and professional planning staff
8 recommendations – allowing mining uses within Silver City supported by law and
9 substantial evidence where the Commissioners:
10

- 11 1. demonstrated no changed circumstances justifying the radical
12 reversal of longstanding land use policy;
13
- 14 2. provided no explanation for the patent inconsistency with
15 multiple existing Master Plan policies; and,
16
- 17 3. expressly refused to consider the adverse effects of “special uses”
18 (such as mining) and only considered “allowed uses” when changing the applicable
19 land use designations and zoning where the sole purpose of the change was to
20 allow mining?
21

22 C. Nevada Revised Statutes Section 278.220(4) mandates “**No** change in
23 or addition to the master plan or any part thereof, as adopted by the planning
24 commission, may be made by the governing body in adopting the same **until** the
25 proposed change or addition has been referred to the planning commission for a
26
27
28

1 report thereon and an attested copy of the report has been filed with the governing
2 body.” (Emphasis added.) Did Lyon County violate NRS 278.220(4) when it
3 “referred” its Master Plan change to its Planning Commission days **after** it took
4 unconditional final action approving the modification?
5

6 D. Did the District Court improperly dismiss without leave to amend
7 Appellants’ claim under the Open Meeting Law where evidence indicated that a
8 majority of the Lyon County Commission communicated serially with each other
9 in the days just before the noticed meeting to reach a mutually acceptable new
10 proposal not described in the meeting agenda?
11
12

13 E. Did the District Court improperly dismiss without leave to amend
14 Appellants’ claim that their Due Process rights were violated by individual
15 Commissioners’ participation in this land use decision where applicant-Respondent
16 CMI funded their election campaigns and employed Commissioner spouses and
17 close friends?
18
19

20 **III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

21 This is an appeal from an order denying judicial review of Lyon County’s
22 decision to reverse longstanding master plan and zoning designations to allow
23 mining and other industrial uses within the Silver City town boundaries and related
24 orders. CRA also appeals the District Court’s earlier order dismissing CRA’s
25
26
27
28

1 claims for violations of the Open Meeting Law and due process. Third Judicial
2 District Court, Lyon County, Hon. Robert Estes, Senior District Judge.

3 4 **IV. ROUTING STATEMENT**

5 Appellant CRA respectfully submits that this appeal is appropriate for
6 resolution in the Supreme Court. As an appeal arising from litigation over land use
7 decision by a local government with claims under NRS Chapters 278 and 241 and
8 the U.S. and Nevada Due Process Clauses, this action does not fall within any of
9 the presumptive
10 categories of NRAP 17(a)(1)-(12) or 17(b)(1)-(10). Because Lyon County is not
11 an administrative agency (see e.g., NRS 233B.031 defining “agency” for purposes
12 of the Nevada Administrative Procedure Act, as a constituent part of the
13 “Executive Department of the State Government”), the “administrative agency
14 appeals” provisions of NRS 17(a)(9) and 17(b)(4) do not on their face apply to this
15 appeal.
16

17 This appeal does raise a constitutional question of first impression under
18 *Caperton v. Massey Coal Company*, 556 U.S. 868, 872 (2009) and *Ivey v. Eighth*
19 *Judicial District*, __ Nev. __, 299 P.3d 354 (2013), whether a claim may be stated
20 for violation of state and federal due process guarantees to affected property
21 owners where sitting County Commissioners fail to recuse themselves after
22 receiving overwhelming campaign contributions and spousal employment by the
23
24
25
26
27

1 mining company land use applicant. NRAP 17(a)(13). In addition, this appeal
2 raises statewide issues of public importance under NRAP 17(a)(14) because it
3 addresses (1) the conditions under which a local government may reverse
4 repeatedly re-enforced longstanding land use policy, (2) whether the procedural
5 requirements of NRS 278.220(4) may be avoided, and (3) whether the Nevada
6 Open Meeting Law was violated through improper serial meetings and
7 introduction of a last-minute, unagendized substitute proposal. The Supreme
8 Court’s decision in this case will provide guidance to local governments on issues
9 directly affecting many Nevada citizens. As a result, Appellant CRA submits that
10 this appeal should be presumptively assigned to the Supreme Court under NRAP
11 17(a)(13) and (14).
12
13
14
15

16 **V. BACKGROUND**

17 The Comstock Historic Mining District (“CHD”) represents a truly unique
18 piece of Nevada and national cultural history. Recognizing its critical cultural
19 value to the citizens of Nevada and the Nation, the United States first designated
20 the Virginia City Historic District as a National Historic Landmark on July 4,
21 1961. JA 4:0787. In 1971, the Nevada Legislature enacted Chapter 384 of the
22 Nevada Revised Statutes to create the Virginia City Historic District (subsequently
23 renamed the CHD). JA:0862, 0864. The Comstock Historic District Act, NRS
24
25
26
27
28

1 384.010 to 384.210, is the only Comstock-specific legislation designed to protect
2 this amazing site of Nevada and national heritage.

3
4 In the Comstock Historic District Act, the Nevada Legislature decreed that it
5 is “the public policy of the State of Nevada to promote the educational, cultural,
6 economic and general welfare and safety of the public through the preservation and
7 protection of the structures, sites and areas of historic interest and scenic beauty”
8 of the CHD. NRS 384.020.

9
10 Unfortunately, new mining activities have degraded the CHD and threaten its
11 destruction. “The Virginia City Historic Landmark District is endangered because
12 of previous open pit mining which has limited the visual integrity of the District
13 and which destroyed and continues to threaten contributing cultural resources
14 within the District.” JA 6:0787.

15
16
17 Silver City, nestled in the Comstock, has slowly developed over the last 40
18 years into a tightknit community proud of its mining heritage and bent on
19 preserving the state and national historic monument status. Over that same time
20 period, Lyon County separated the town from incompatible industrial uses through
21 adoption of increasingly protective Master Plan policies and zoning and rejection
22 of specific efforts to alter them.

23
24
25 After unprecedented efforts by a new land owner, Comstock Mining, Inc., to
26 alter the make-up and influence the Lyon County Commission, the Commission
27

1 overturned its own Planning Commission and professional planning staff, and
2 granted Comstock Mining’s request to change the master plan designation and
3 zoning on January 2, 2014 to allow mining uses on CMI property within the Silver
4 City townsite.
5

6 **A. History of Increasing Protection for Silver City from Incompatible**
7 **Uses in County Master Plans and Actions**

8 In 1971, Lyon County enacted its first master plan and related zoning. It
9 planned and zoned Silver City like all the other towns in the county: urban
10 appropriate uses and densities within the town and rural uses and densities outside
11 of town. The 1971 Plan identified Silver City as an “urbanizing area” surrounded
12 by residential lands and open space. The zoning ordinances that followed placed
13 virtually all of the townsite in First Non-rural Residential (NR-1), with a narrow
14 strip of commercial and light industrial along Main Street. The NR-1 zoning
15 allowed for homes, associated buildings, parks, recreation areas and cottage
16 businesses. One of the principal objectives of this residential zoning was to protect
17 the quality of life and property values within in the Silver City townsite.
18
19
20
21

22 The goals and policies section of the 1971 General Plan emphasized the
23 importance of Lyon County’s residential communities and especially the historic
24 resources located within. The Plan’s language clearly valued open space land as
25 “one of the most important uses” critical to preserving recreation resources,
26 residential stability, sustainable growth, and the area’s precious historic and
27

1 cultural significance. The 1971 Plan also emphasized that industrial development
2 should be prohibited if it would change the natural features or reduced the primary
3 importance of Lyon County communities. In support of that directive, the 1971
4 Plan identified Silver City as a significant, recreational, historical and cultural
5 attraction with an emerging, prosperous residential community. JA 6:0752-753.
6

7
8 In 1986, Nevex Mining Company (“Nevex”) applied to Lyon County to
9 change the land use and zoning designations for property within Silver City from
10 more urban residential densities to more rural densities so as to allow mining
11 within the town. The Lyon County Commission denied Nevex’s proposed land use
12 and zone changes specifically finding that Nevex’s application for more rural uses
13 and densities violated its Master Plan and was otherwise inappropriate. The land
14 use changes Nevex sought in 1986 are identical to the changes sought by CMI in
15 2014. See generally JA 6:0877-938.
16

17
18 In its 1986 findings, the County adopted a comprehensive list of “findings of
19 fact” supporting the denial, including that, “[t]he proposed rezoning violates the
20 following expressed goals of the county’s master plan: To manage natural
21 resources in a beneficial way; To improve neighborhood stability and increase
22 property values by preventing incompatible and disruptive land use.” JA 6:0937-
23 938. Other specific findings the County made in 1986 include:
24
25

26 In reference to requirements for zoning established by NRS
27 Section 278 and 250, we find (A) that the Nevex rezoning
28

request does not comply with the Lyon County Master Plan. (B) The proposed rezoning does not promote the conservation of open space or protect the natural and scenic resources from unreasonable impairment. (C) The proposed rezoning would have both a long-term adverse financial impact to Silver City and the Comstock National Historic Landmark. (D) The proposed rezoning does not promote the health and general welfare of the Silver City area. (E) The proposed rezoning is not compatible with the Silver City area and does not encourage the most appropriate use of land in the Silver City Townsite.

There is no land in the Silver City Town site zoned RR-5, and the present zoning is predominantly residential in nature.

The proposed rezoning would significantly harm the integrity of the Comstock Historic District and the National Landmark District.

The proposed rezoning violates the following expressed goals: (A) To manage national resources in a beneficial way. (B) to improve neighborhood stability and increase property values by preventing incompatible and disruptive land uses.

Id.

In 1990, Lyon County affirmed its 1986 decision when it adopted a new Master Plan and maintained the same urban/rural land use designations for Silver City. Specifically, Lyon County approved two goals for Silver City in the 1990 Master Plan:

Goal #1 – To maintain, promote, and secure the historic character of the community and to prevent the destruction or degradation of the historic character. Objective: Lyon County should support the Comstock Historic District Commission in its legislative mission.

1 Goal #2 – Lyon County should review all new development
2 proposals with the intent to protect the riparian ecology
3 associated with Gold Canyon and American Ravine [both within
4 Silver City], with the intent of protecting water quality,
5 minimizing flooding, erosion and sedimentation, and preserving
6 natural drainage, habitat, and aesthetic functions.

7 JA 6:0754-755.

8 About a decade later Lyon County again examined the appropriate land use
9 designations for Silver City and its environs and reaffirmed the existing
10 designations. In the 2002 West Central Lyon County Land Use Plan, the County
11 designated Silver City as appropriate for urban uses and densities, not mining. The
12 2002 West Central Plan concluded that Silver City has the potential for continued
13 limited growth with only half of the potential home sites developed. The 2002
14 Plan set gradual residential and commercial growth for Silver City while
15 maintaining the community’s historical integrity.

16 In the 2002 Plan, the County adopted multiple additional specific goals for
17 Silver City. These goals articulated the future direction and reaffirmed earlier
18 policies:

19 **To limit earth disturbance or above-ground mining activities**
20 **that create visual scarring or that disrupt the fabric of the**
21 **community.** “Lyon County shall establish a land use policy that
22 minimizes the impact of mining and other significant earth-
23 disturbing activities that degrade quality of life.

24 **To recognize, enhance, and protect the unique character of**
25 **Silver City.** Among the actions set forth to implement this Goal
26 was “to maintain that scale and primary residential character by
27

1 retaining the existing Master Plan designation and zoning
2 categories.”

3 **To preserve the scale of the community by architectural**
4 **review that is sensitive to how new structures fit into the**
5 **existing fabric.** Among the actions set forth to implement this
6 Goal was “to preserve the existing pedestrian character by
7 maintaining alleys, soft paving approaches, and relatively
8 narrow streets.”

9 **To promote the revitalization of the commercial corridor by**
10 **promoting reinvestment.**

11 **To preserve and strengthen the existing infrastructure, i.e.,**
12 **water, roadways, drainage, and public facilities.** Among the
13 actions set forth to implement this Goal was “Lyon County shall
14 provide an infrastructure inventory and deficiency evaluation
15 and report. Lyon County shall provide a long term if modest
16 capital improvement commitment (i.e., 20 years) that
17 methodically addresses these deficiencies.” Also included was
18 an action “to implement and actively oversee the ‘dark sky’
19 ordinance.”

20 **To focus on encouraging tourist-oriented historic activities**
21 **that do not degrade the quality of life central to Silver City’s**
22 **uniqueness.** Among the actions set forth to implement this Goal
23 was “to actively support the efforts of residents to preserve and
24 improve their property.”

25 JA 6:0756-757.

26 Some eight years after the County adopted the 2002 Plan, the County again
27 specifically considered the appropriate land uses for Silver City and reaffirmed its
28 prior decisions for the fifth time. In December 2010, Lyon County adopted a fully
vetted County-wide Comprehensive Master Plan (2010 CMP). See generally JA
6:0757-763.

1 During the development of the 2010 Comprehensive Master Plan, numerous
2 public hearings and community workshops were held throughout Lyon County.
3
4 The community workshops concentrated on developing the county-wide land use
5 map as well as the language to be included in the text. Development of the 2010
6 Comprehensive Master Plan was a standing item on Lyon County Planning
7 Commission meetings from September of 2005 to its adoption in late 2010. *Id.*

8
9 The 2010 Comprehensive Master Plan was a,
10
11 culmination of four years of dialogue and analysis that has
12 included a wide array of participants including the Board of
13 Commissioners, the Planning Commission, community advisory
14 councils, County staff and the community at large. A series of
15 community meetings, open house events and workshops were
16 held throughout the county to obtain citizen input and
17 recommendations, including eight meetings on issues
18 identification in March 2007, eight community meetings and
19 two joint Planning Commission/Board of Commissioners
20 sessions on community vision in April and September 2007, six
21 meetings in November 2008 in goals and policies, fourteen
22 meetings in January, April and May 2009 on land use maps, six
23 meetings in July 2009 on land use goals and policies, and finally
24 eleven sessions in October 2009 and March 2010 on the overall
25 County-wide Comprehensive Plan.

26
27 JA 6:0757 (2010 CMP at 1.10-1.11).

28 The 2010 CMP “represents a future vision of Lyon County along with
recommendations for achieving that vision. The ideas of the Plan are a distillation
of the community's many desires, tempered by what seems necessary, feasible, and
reasonable.” The 2010 Comprehensive Master Plan is organized in two tiers: a

1 County-wide Component and more specific Community Plans. The County-wide
2 Component of the 2010 CMP provides for the overall foundation and framework
3 for directing the County's future growth and development. The County-wide
4 Component is the umbrella document that applies to all of the unincorporated area
5 of Lyon County. It represents the overall vision, goals and policy direction,
6 generalized land use patterns for the entire County, and the land use designations
7 for lands outside of defined communities. The County-wide Component provides
8 guidance for the preparation of the more specific Community Plans. JA 6:0757-
9 763.

13 The Community Plan tier of the 2010 Comprehensive Master Plan presents
14 the specific vision, goals and policy direction, and land use pattern for each
15 identified community as determined through the community planning process.
16 Community Plans are to be designated for existing established communities.
17 These maps provide detailed views of the community's desired growth and
18 development for the future taking into consideration each community's unique
19 character, opportunities and constraints. The County will work with each
20 community to complete Community Plans, including Community Land Use Plans.
21 *Id.*

1 The 2010 CMP contains policies and goals that are County-wide in nature as
2 well as specific to its eight diverse communities, including Silver City. The
3 following excerpts from the Master Plan are relevant to CMI's 2013 Application.
4

5 Policy LU 1.1: "Follow development patterns as established on
6 Countywide Land Use Plan or a more specific Community Plan.
7 The Community Plan envisioned for Silver City has not yet been
8 initiated by Lyon County."

9 Policy LU 1.4: "Locate industrial development as designated on
10 County-wide Land Use Plan or determined by criteria.
11 Industrial uses, including extractive industries, will occur in
12 areas that are designated on the County-wide Land Use Plan.
13 **New industrial uses should only be located in areas that do
14 not adversely impact existing residential settlements."**

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