2 3 Electronically Filed 4 Jan 15 2016 04:22 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman 5 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA Court 6 7 COMSTOCK RESIDENTS ASSOCIATION; and JOE 8 Case No. 68433 9 McCARTHY, Appeal from Third Judicial Dist. Court Case No. 14-CV-00128 **Appellants** 10 11 v. LYON COUNTY BOARD OF 12 COMMISSIONERS; and COMSTOCK MINING INCORPORATED 13 14 Respondents. 15 RESPONDENTS' JOINT ANSWERING BRIEF 16 17 STEPHEN B. RYE, ESQ. State Bar No. 5761 JAMES R. CAVILIA, ESQ. State Bar No. 3921 18 JUSTIN TOWNSEND, ESQ. State Bar No. 12293 ALLISON MACKENZIE, LTD. LYON COUNTY
DISTRICT ATTORNEY
31 South Main Street

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

## A. The Court Should Uphold the Board's Decision to Grant CMI's Application.

The Board's decision to grant CMI's Application was based on substantial evidence. Absent a finding that the Board abused its discretion and failed to base its decision on substantial evidence, this Court must uphold the Board's decision. The evidence before the Board reflects that the public offered both support and opposition to the Application, which was considered by the Board at a public hearing. All members of the public who wished to offer support or opposition to the Application were permitted to do so, after which the Board openly deliberated and voted to approve CMI's Application. There is no evidence of any abuse of discretion and, therefore, this Court should uphold the decision of the Board.

### B. The Board Made All Findings Required by Law.

Lyon County Code sets forth the precise findings that must be made in order to approve an amendment to the Lyon County Master Plan. The Board

made all such findings and the findings were supported by substantial evidence in the record.

#### C. The Board's Decision is Consistent with Master Plan Goals.

CRA argues that mining is incompatible with planning and zoning in Silver City. There are three problems with CRA's argument. First, the Board did not approve any mining on the subject property or within Silver City. In order to mine the property, CMI will first have to apply for a special use permit, which it has not done. Second, the subject property is almost entirely outside the town site of Silver City. Third, the planning and zone changes reflect the existing conditions of the subject property, which are that the property is not served by water or sewer and that the parcels are generally undeveloped.

### D. CRA Alleges no Facts to Support a Claim for Violation of the OML.

CRA alleges two violations of the OML. First, CRA contends that members of the Board met and deliberated serially on CMI's Application. This claim fails because the facts alleged by CRA are that only two of the five members of the Board met to discuss a proposal to reduce the scope of CMI's Application, while a third member of the Board exchanged emails with a representative of CMI on a matter that was unrelated to the aforementioned proposal. There is no evidence that a quorum of the Board actually deliberated outside of a public meeting. Indeed, the Board's decision was deliberated and made in a public meeting.

Second, CRA asserts that the decision taken in the open meeting was not properly agendized where the decision was merely to reduce the scope of changes requested by CMI. The actual decision taken, however, was within the scope of the agendized matters and no action was taken beyond said scope.

///

1

3 4 5

8

7

10

11

1213

14

15 16

1718

19

2021

2223

24

25

2627

28

### E. CRA Fails to Allege Facts to Support a Claim for Violation of Due Process.

CRA asks this Court to apply a foreign standard to the question of whether public officials must recuse themselves. However, NRS Chapter 281A clearly sets forth the applicable standard, which is that a public official must only recuse him or herself where clearly defined conflicts of interest exist. CRA fails to even allege the kind of conflicts required in Nevada in order to require recusal. Thus, CRA's claim fails as a matter of law.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

#### A. Standard of Review of Board's Decision.

This Court is tasked, just as the District Court below was tasked, with reviewing the Record that was before the Board to ascertain if there "was any substantial evidence before the Board which would sustain the Board's action." McKenzie v. Shelly, 77 Nev. 237, 242, 362 P.2d 268, 270 (1961). reviewing land use and zoning decisions, Nevada jurisprudence has long held that the reviewing court is "not empowered to substitute its judgment for that of a zoning board, in this case the Board of County Commissioners, when the board's action is supported by substantial evidence." Id. at 240, 362 P.2d. at 269. Only rarely may a court interfere with a governing board's decision, "and then only when it can be demonstrated by the one seeking the privilege that the governing board is acting outside of its legal powers." City Council of City of Reno v. Irvine, 102 Nev. 277, 278, 721 P.2d 371, 372 (1986). Judicial interference is not warranted except in cases of "manifest abuse of discretion." Id. at 279, 721 P.2d at 372 (quoting City of Henderson v. Henderson Auto, 77 Nev. 118, 122, 359 P.2d 743, 745 (1961)). The burden of proving abuse of discretion lies with CRA. Id. at 278, 721 P.2d at 372; see also NRS 233B.135(2).

1 2 a 3 <u>C</u> 4 ( <u>F</u> 5 <u>F</u> 7 F

A charge against an administrative body for abuse of discretion seeks to ascertain whether that body acted arbitrarily or capriciously. See Stratosphere Gaming Corp. v. City of Las Vegas, 120 Nev. 523, 528, 96 P.3d 756, 760 (2004); Karadanis v. Bond, 116 Nev. 163, 167, 993 P.2d 721, 724 (2000); Helms v. State of Nevada, Div. of Environmental Protection, 109 Nev. 310, 313, 849 P.2d 279, 281 (1993); and Barnum v. Williams, 84 Nev. 37, 41, 436 P.2d 219, 222 (1968). An administrative decision is arbitrary and capricious only when it "lacks support in the form of substantial evidence." Stratosphere, 120 Nev. at 528, 96 P.3d at 760 (quoting Tighe v. Las Vegas Metro. Police Dept., 110 Nev. 632, 634, 877 P.2d 1032, 1034 (1994)).

Finally, in conducting a review of land use and zoning decisions, this Court is limited to reviewing "the agency record to decide whether substantial evidence supports the governing body's findings." <u>City of Reno v. Citizens for Cold Springs</u>, 126 Nev. 263, 271, 236 P.3d 10, 15 (Nev. 2010). "Substantial evidence is that which a reasonable mind could accept as sufficient to support a conclusion." Id.

#### B. Standard of Review of Order of Dismissal.

This Court reviews orders of dismissal *de novo*. Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of North Las Vegas, 124 Nev. 224, 228, 181 P.3d 670, 672 (2008). A claim must be dismissed if it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff is entitled to no relief under any set of facts that could be proved in support of the claim. Washoe Medical Center, Inc. v. Reliance Insurance Co., 112 Nev. 494, 496, 915 P.2d 288, 288-89 (1996).

#### **ARGUMENT**

## A. The Entire Record was Presented to the District Court and is Presented Here.

CRA begins its arguments here with an assertion that the Board has failed to provide the entire record as required by NRS 233B.131(1). This

1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 |

assertion is based on a claim that members of the Board "used their own personal electronic devices to communicate extensively with each other and CMI regarding CMI's land use application" and that the Board has failed to provide copies of these alleged communications. Opening Brief at p. 36, ll. 1-5.

CRA claims that "it is clear that substantial communication between Commissioners and CMI occurred in the days just before the January 2, 2014 hearing but little email and no texts were provided from the Commissioners, particularly from Commissioner Keller, the apparent instigator of the communications." Opening Brief at p. 36, l. 19 to p. 37, l. 3. CRA has failed to show what makes the aforementioned alleged existence of communications "clear" or what these alleged communications might show. The reality is that the record is devoid of any evidence to support CRA's allegations, which should therefore be disregarded.

The Record produced at the District Court was the entire record. CRA has no evidence whatsoever of a failure to provide the entire record. The Record contains everything on which the Board based its decision to amend the Master Plan and zoning. Further, as was shown in the District Court and as will be shown herein, the Board's decision was made at a public hearing after receiving and deliberating on evidence presented both for and against CMI's Application.

## B. The Board's Decision to Amend the Master Plan and Zoning was Supported by Substantial Evidence and Must Be Upheld.

The Master Plan and zoning process is a process governed by statute. NRS Chapter 278 guides the land use planning process from the initial application through deliberations by the Planning Commission and by the Board. That process was strictly followed in this matter over the course of several months. The Board is empowered by NRS Chapter 278 to make

ultimate decisions regarding master plans and zoning designations. <u>See NRS 278.020(1)</u>. As noted above, this Court should not substitute its judgment for that of the Board. <u>See Citizens for Cold Springs</u>, 126 Nev. at 271, 236 P.3d at 15-16.

The Board received copious amounts of evidence, both for and against the Application. Certainly, a reasonable mind could accept the evidence, when considered both for and against the Application, to support a conclusion to grant the Application to amend the Lyon County Master Plan and change the zoning designations on the subject property.

In <u>McKenzie v. Shelly</u>, 77 Nev. 237, 242, 362 P.2d 268, 270 (1961), the Nevada Supreme Court upheld a land use decision by the Washoe County Board of Commissioners. The Court reasoned as follows:

The record shows that at the public hearing which was properly noticed, eight witnesses testified against and eleven in favor of the requested amendment of the land use plan. All persons wanting to speak for or against the requested amendment were given an opportunity to do so.

It would serve no purpose to detail the nature of all the evidence presented at the public hearing. It does appear from the record that the Board's action was based not only on such oral evidence, but also upon a map of the general plan and upon its own knowledge of existing conditions. Also, over one thousand signed written communications were submitted to the board.

77 Nev. at 240, 362 P.2d at 269.

Here, the Record also shows substantial witness testimony both for and against the Application. JA Vol. 5 at 0634-0636. The Record also shows that all persons wanting to speak for or against the Application were given an opportunity to do so. JA Vol. 5 at 0634-0636; see also Recording of January 2, 2014 Board meeting, CMI #2 00:15-1:34:20 & CMI #3 00:00-16:50

In addition to the witness testimony both for and against CMI's Application, CMI also presented expert testimony. JA Vol. 5 at 0654-0726.

1 C 2 r 3 M 4 F 5 M 6 m 7 f 6 m 9 F 10 e 11 N 12 m 13 2 14 c 15 J 16 t 17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

CRA has previously asserted that CMI's Application "contained no expert reports." JA Vol. 28 at 3851. In fact, CMI's Application was prepared by Manhard Consulting, a firm with engineers, surveyors, architects, and land use planners, who compiled an extensive report, which was part of CMI's Application. JA Vol. 5 at 0654-0726. It is unclear why CRA would deem this not to be an expert report. If ever there was a report prepared by experts in the field of land use planning, the report of Manhard Consulting submitted with CMI's Application would seem to be it. Furthermore, CMI's Application was presented at the January 2, 2014 Board meeting by Mark Rotter, a civil engineer with extensive land use and planning experience in Lyon County. JA Vol. 5 at 0634. Mr. Rotter presented for nearly thirty minutes with the members of the Board asking questions throughout. Recording of January 2, 2014 Board meeting, CMI #1 at 23:10-50:30. Mr. Rotter presented an analysis of historical land uses in and around the subject property. Recording of January 2, 2014 Board meeting, CMI #1beginning at 25:50. He further testified that the Application would not allow mining on the property, but that a special use permit would have to be obtained prior to any mining of the subject property. Recording of January 2, 2014 Board meeting, CMI #1beginning at 34:00.

Mr. Rotter presented testimony and photographic evidence of CMI's efforts to preserve the historic quality of the Comstock, which includes expending, as of that date, more than \$1 million in historic restoration and preservation efforts. Recording of January 2, 2014 Board meeting, CMI #1 beginning at 41:15. He also pointed out the inconsistency of the current zoning and master plan designations, which allow medium residential density, and the topography of the subject property, which is not at all suitable for that sort of residential development. He noted that, even if no mining ever occurs on the property, the requested Master Plan Amendment and zone change would be the

 most appropriate master plan and zoning designations for the property. Recording of January 2, 2014 Board meeting, CMI #1 beginning at 41:15.

CMI's Application was supported by substantial expert testimony and exhaustive evidence. Without detailing the nature of all the evidence presented to the Board in this matter, this Court can readily ascertain that the Board's findings and action taken were based not only on oral and visual evidence presented at the public hearing, but also on a myriad of documentary evidence available to the Board and on the Board's own knowledge and insight of the relevant conditions applicable to the Application. The District Court concluded that the Board's decision was based on substantial evidence, "which a reasonable mind could accept as sufficient to support the Board of Commissioners' decision to amend the master plan and zoning" and that, "in relying on the substantial evidence before it, [the Board] did not abuse its discretion in amending the master plan and zoning." JA Vol. 28 at 3940. For the reasons set forth above, this Court should likewise uphold the Board's decision to grant CMI's Application.

## C. The Board is not Required to Make Findings of Changed Circumstances, but did in fact Make such Findings.

CRA spends a good portion of their argument asserting that the Board may only amend the Master Plan upon a specific showing of "changed circumstances." Opening Brief at pp. 38-40. It likewise spends a good portion of its "Background" section outlining prior Lyon County land use decisions going back to 1971. Opening Brief at pp. 7-17. In support of its contention, CRA cites only NRS 278.210(4) and Lyon County Code ("LCC") 10.12.09(F)(1)(c). NRS 278.210(4) applies on its face only to a planning commission, not a governing body such as the Board.

Further, LCC 10.12.09(F)(1)(c) is taken entirely out of context. LCC 10.12.09(F)(1) provides that "[w]hen making an approval, modification or

denial of an amendment to the master plan land use map or text, the commission and the board shall, at a minimum, make one of the following findings of fact," and then goes on to list five potential findings, including "changed conditions."

Moreover, fatal to CRA's argument is that LCC 10.12.09(F)(1) provides the precise "boilerplate" language that must be used by the Board in making any one of the findings listed in that section. For example LCC 10.12.09(F)(1)(c) provides that the Board, if it is making a finding of changed conditions in support of a Master Plan Amendment, must recite that "[t]he proposed amendment has demonstrated and responds to changed conditions or further studies that have occurred since the master plan was adopted by the board, and the requested amendment represents a more desirable utilization of land." Similar language is required for findings based on (a) consistency with the Master Plan (LCC 10.12.09(F)(1)(a)); (b) compatibility with land uses (LCC 10.12.09(F)(1)(b); (c) no adverse effects (LCC 10.12.09(F)(1)(d); and (d) a desired pattern for growth (LCC 10.12.09(F)(1)(e). Nothing more than the precise language set out in LCC 10.12.09(F)(1) is required.

Here, the Board made each of the findings outlined in LCC 10.12.09(F)(1) and used the language required by said provision. JA Vol. 5 at 0634-0635. Furthermore, each of the findings was supported by substantial evidence presented to and deliberated by the Board at the public hearing on January 2, 2014.

### D. The Board's Decision is Consistent with Existing Master Plan Goals.

CRA next asserts that the Board's decision is incompatible with the Master Plan. Opening Brief at pp. 40-51. CRA essentially posits that mining is incompatible with the residential nature of Silver City. There are at least three problems with CRA's arguments.

7 8

First, the Board's decision to grant CMI's Application does not authorize CMI to conduct any mining activities on the land. Indeed, during the Board's deliberations, each of the individual Commissioners clearly expressed that they were not authorizing any mining activity by granting CMI's Application and that any mining to be conducted on the subject property would require a special use permit. JA Vol. 5 at 0634-0636.; see also Recording of January 2, 2014 Board meeting, CMI #3 at 17:20-59:40.

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